
City of Graham 

City Council Meeting Agenda 

September 10, 2024 

6:00 p.m. | City Hall | 201 South Main Street | Graham, NC 

CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jennifer Talley 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PROCLAMATION: CONSTITUTION WEEK – BATTLE OF ALAMANCE CHAPTER 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

a. To approve the August 13, 2024, Council Meeting minutes and sealed Closed Session minutes.

b. To approve a budget amendment to move $77,000 from water administration to water and sewer

distribution, approve two title changes: Water Billing Supervisor to Customer Service Supervisor and

Utility Billing Technician to Utility Meter Technician.

c. To approve a budget amendment to recognize $10,080 in insurance proceeds revenue and increase the

Police Department Capital Outlay budget by $10,080.

d. To approve a budget amendment of $26,250 for matching funds for the Accessible Parks Grant for ADA

projects at the Graham Recreation Center and $2,000 for the haunted train attraction at the Pumpkin Bash.

e. To approve closing streets for Graham High School’s Homecoming Parade on October 4, 2024, from

4:45 pm to 5:30 pm. The procession will begin at Albright Avenue, down Main Street, around Court

Square, down Pine Street, and end at Graham Middle School.

f. To approve a settlement of uncollected Real and Personal Property taxes totaling $125,721.07, for fiscal

year 2023-2024 and tax releases for $1,401.13.

PUBLIC HEARING: 

1. ANNEXATION – .79 ACRES – Off JIMMIE KERR ROAD- AN2403

A public hearing has been scheduled to consider an Annexation Ordinance to extend the corporate limits

to the City of Graham for two tracts of land totaling .79 acres located off Jimmie Kerr Road.

NEW BUSINESS: 

2. SESQUICENTENNIAL PARK – REQUEST FOR BIDS

City Staff seeks direction from Council regarding alternatives to be included in the request for bids for

the sesquicentennial park.

Page 1 of 101



 

3. SIGNATURE EVENT – DOWNTOWN GRAHAM – STREET CLOSURES 
 

City Council will consider the closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets, North and South 

Main Streets, the public parking lot at the intersection of East Elm Street and Marshal Street, and the 

public parking lot on the 100 block of West Elm Street from 6:00 am to 6:00 pm on May 17, 2025.  
 

 

4. CIVILIAN TRAFFIC INVESTIGATOR 
 

City Council will consider a title change from Traffic Enforcement Officer to Civilian Traffic Investigator, 

transition the existing employee from part-time to full-time effective September 22, 2024, and approve a 

Budget Amendment for $42,000 to cover the expenses through the end of fiscal year 2025. 
 

 

5. AMEND CODE OF ORDINANCE – CANVASSERS’ AND SOLICITORS’ PERMIT HOURS 

AND DURATION 
 

City Council will consider an Ordinance amendment to Chapter 8-Businesses, Article IV-Canvassers’ 

and Solicitors’ Permit, Sections 8-104 and 8-113 of the Code of Ordinances.  
 

 

6. PEDESTRIAN PLAN UPDATE DISCUSSION 
 

City Council will discuss the proposed City of Graham Pedestrian Plan Update.  

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

 

 
CITY STAFF COMMENTS 

 

 
CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

 

CLOSED SESSION: 
 

City Council will consider going into closed session pursuant to the terms of N.C.G.S. 143-318-11(a)(3) to 

consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to preserve the attorney-client 

privilege between the attorney and the public body. 

 
 

ADJOURN 

Page 2 of 101



Page 3 of 101



1 
 

City of Graham  
City Council Meeting Minutes  
August 13, 2024 

 

 
 

The City Council of the City of Graham held a regularly scheduled meeting at 6:00 p.m. on August 13, 

2024, in the Council Chamber, City Hall Municipal Building at 201 South Main Street, Graham, NC.  

 

Council Members Present:     Staff Present: 

Mayor Jennifer Talley      Megan Garner, City Manager  

Mayor Pro Tem Ricky Hall     Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager 

Council Member Bobby Chin      Bryan Coleman, City Attorney 

Council Member Joey Parsons     Bob Ward, City Attorney  

Council Member Bonnie Whitaker    Renee Ward, City Clerk 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Jennifer Talley 
 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

Pastor Steve Braswell, Graham Presbyterian Church, gave the invocation and all stood for the Pledge of 

Allegiance. 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

a. To approve the July 9, 2024, Council Meeting minutes and sealed Closed Session minutes.  

 

b. To approve a date change for the previously approved Grahamtoberfest to close the 100 block of 

W. Elm Street to a new date of September 21, 2024, from 1:00 pm to 11:00 pm. 
 

c. To approve the Procurement and Financial Management & Internal Control policies for ARPA 

Project Funding Compliance.  

 

d. To approve the Drinking Water Emerging Contaminants Construction Project and 2024-2034  

Water Capital Improvement Plan Resolutions. 

 

e. To set a date of public hearing for September 10, 2024, to consider extending the corporate limits 

to the City of Graham for a tract of land totaling .79 acres off Jimmie Kerr Road and to direct the 

City Clerk to investigate the sufficiency of the petition. (AN2403) 

 

f. To approve a budget amendment to increase Federal Drug Funds by $50,000 for use by the Police 

Department. 

 

g. To approve a Project Ordinance for the Downtown Enhancement Grant Allocation Project for 

$600,000. 
 

 

Page 4 of 101



2 
 

Assistant Police Chief Rodney King shared the $50,000 increase received from the Federal Drug Fund 

would be placed in a line item to be used throughout the year. 

 

Mayor Talley asked what the funds would be used for. 

 

Assistant Chief King stated it could be used for covert operations, tracking devices, etc. He stated the 

funds were also used for active investigations. He noted there was a list of different uses approved 

through the Asset Forfeiture Program and funds could not be used to supplant the budget. He shared 

the funds were not taxpayer dollars they were from asset forfeitures.     
  

Mayor Pro Tem Hall motioned to approve the Consent Agenda items, seconded by Council Member 

Chin. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARING: 
 

ITEM 1: TEXT AMENDMENT – RECREATIONAL OPEN SPACE – AM2402 
 

City Council considered an Ordinance amendment to Article 4, Division 12, Section 10.249 Open Space 

Provisions for R-12, R-15, and R-18 Zoning Districts in the Development Ordinance to require 

recreational open space in all open space subdivisions. 

 

The public hearing was opened and no one spoke. 

 

Mayor Talley expressed concern when developers come in and completely clear-cut property and do 

not leave any natural buffers. She asked how language could be added to address things such as no 

clear-cutting, incorporating open space throughout the development keeping mature trees and natural 

vegetation, landscape buffers, and building with the natural features and topography to avoid excess 

disruption to soil erosion and take into consideration the surrounding properties. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated the proposed text addresses being conservative with land 

disturbance automatically and was set up that way to protect sensitive areas. He stated language was 

already in the text addressing the disturbance areas where you do not have to.  He noted the proposed 

text amendment was based on discussions with the Council to prohibit developers from vaguely using 

open space. He noted previously developers could just show on plans an open space that checked a 

requirement but now it is more specific and requires developers to dedicate a certain amount of open 

space for specific recreation purposes. He noted the additional language now addresses the previous 

deficiency regarding gathering open space.    

 

Mayor Talley expressed concerns about lot sizes and said that open spaces allow developers to develop 

smaller lot sizes.  

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated currently a developer could request an R12 and get a 10,000 

square foot provision. Still, the new language would address the open space, making them put more 

effort into it. He stated addressing lot sizes would be a bigger text amendment than what was being 

discussed tonight and would require a complete rewrite.  

 

Mayor Talley stated the proposed language would improve it and asked how long it would take to revise 

this section of the ordinance. 

Page 5 of 101



3 
 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated it could take a few months depending on how many other places 

of the ordinance a text change could impact.  

 

Council Member Chin stated it would be piecemealing and recommended approving what was 

presented tonight and preparing to undergo a full rewrite in the next budget year. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated staff could take a look at this particular section to determine if 

it could be amended to address the concerns of lot sizes. He stated it would take several months before 

it would come back to the Council for review. 

 

Tom Boney, Alamance News, inquired about changes in the text amendment.  

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to close the public hearing, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall. 

The motion passed unanimously.  

 

Motion by Mayor Talley to approve the Ordinance amendment to Article 4, Division 12, Section 

10.249. Open Space Provisions for R-12, R-15, and R-18 Zoning Districts in the Development 

Ordinance to require recreational open space in all open space subdivisions with instructions for staff 

to look at a full-rewrite of this section over the next two months and come back to Council with 

recommended verbiage, seconded by Council Member Whitaker. The motion passed unanimously.  
 

 

ITEM 2: TEXT AMENDMENT - HISTORIC RESOURCES COMMISSION – BOARD 

REDUCTION 
 

City Council will consider an Ordinance amendment to Chapter 2 (Administration), Article II, Division 

3, Boards and Commissions, to the Code of Ordinances to reduce the Historic Resources Commission 

from seven to five members. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated City Council had requested staff to create a text amendment that 

would reduce the number of Historic Resource Commission members from a board of seven to five due 

to the lack of a quorum with the current appointed members. The Planning Board recommended 

approval of the amendment as it was written. 

 

The public hearing was opened and the following spoke: 

 

Tom Boney, Alamance News, questioned if the board currently had a quorum. 

 

Mayor Talley stated that was the main reason for reducing the number of members from seven to five. 

 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to close the public hearing, seconded by Council Member Whitaker. 

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

Council Member Chin amended his first motion which stated the incorrect ordinance section to the 

following:   

 

Motion by Council Member Chin to approve an Ordinance amendment to Division 10, Section 

10.201(c)(1). Historic Resources to the Development Ordinance to reduce the total number of members 

Page 6 of 101



4 
 

of the Historic Resource Commission from seven members to five members, seconded by Mayor Pro 

Tem Hall. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

 

ITEM 3: TEXT AMENDMENT – SIGN ORDINANCE – NO SOLICITING SIGNAGE 

EXEMPTION 
 

City Council considered a Text Amendment to Article 10, Section 10.393. Exemptions in the 

Development Ordinance to allow no soliciting signs as an exemption. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated staff was requesting a text amendment to the sign ordinance that 

allows for No-Soliciting signs to be installed at the main entrance of developments subject to certain 

stipulations. He stated this request stemmed from a previous amendment to the code of ordinances 

which allowed these types of signs to be approvable in the City limits. He noted when this amendment 

was approved, there was never a similar amendment added in the Development Ordinance where staff 

could permit these signs by adding requirements to the size, location, and entity when installing no 

soliciting signage.  

 

Mayor Talley asked about the rule if a sign was posted and someone was soliciting door to door. 

 

Council Member Whitaker said it would be against the ordinance and they could call the police and 

have them leave. 

 

The public hearing was opened and the following spoke: 

 

Mr. Keith Westbrook, 604 Trock Wilder Court, Graham,  inquired about the numerous small advertising 

signs around town that were an eyesore.  

 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to close the public hearing, seconded by Mayor Talley.  The motion 

passed unanimously.   

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to approve text amendment to Article 10, Section 10.393. 

Exemptions in the Development Ordinance to allow No-Soliciting signs as an exemption, and for the 

signage not to exceed four square feet, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall.  The motion passed 

unanimously.   
 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

ITEM 4: UPDATE ON NEW DOWNTOWN SIGNATURE EVENT 
 

City Staff presented an update on planning a new downtown signature event. 

 

Ms. Emma Griffin, Program Supervisor, gave the following update: 

 

She stated the purpose of bringing a new signature event to Downtown Grahan was to increase the sense 

of community, featuring a variety of art mediums through vendors, performances, and displays, and 

providing activities for all ages. 

 

Page 7 of 101



5 
 

She noted the proposed date was set for Saturday, May 17, 2025, from 10:00 am to 4:00 pm, with 

planned attractions such as live music, art vendors, artist demonstrations, community organizations, 

kids zones, food trucks, and more. 
 

Proposed Event Map: 
 

 
 

Partnership Opportunities: 
 

Ms. Griffin stated they planned to partner with the Farmer’s Market, antique car clubs, and downtown 

businesses to help strengthen and promote partnerships with local organizations and businesses.  
 

Budget Overview: 

 

Page 8 of 101



6 
 

 

Mayor Talley asked about adding the Burlington Artist League and Alamance Arts to inquire about 

their participation. She questioned using Extra Duty Solutions versus requiring staff to be present at 

City-sponsored events and the City should pay officers directly and not go through Extra Duty 

Solutions. 

 

City Manager Garner stated if the City Council wanted to direct staff to provide police officers from 

the Graham Police Department for this event, we would coordinate that with the Police Department. 

She further stated that reviewing EDS as a whole for other City events would be wise and would come 

back before Council with the pros and cons and the Council could then make an informed decision for 

moving forward.  

 

Mayor Talley asked if Ms. Griffin would hold a planning session with the downtown businesses and 

those wanting to volunteer. 

 

Ms. Griffin stated she welcomed any input from those with more experience and knowledge about 

artists than she and would be open to holding a public interest meeting to gain feedback and determine 

where people are interested in volunteering.    

 

City Manager Garner stated staff would update the Council periodically as they moved through the 

process of developing this event.  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall asked if there was a name for this event.  

 

City Manager Garner stated she needed Council consensus on reviewing the EDS process and naming 

the event so staff has direction to move forward. 

 

Mayor Talley suggested Arts Around the Square. 

 

After a brief discussion, it was the Council’s consensus to have staff come up with names and bring 

them back to the Council to consider.  

 

Mr. Tom Boney, Alamance News, asked if the name Arts Around the Square was in any way 

trademarked.  Staff will research the name.  

 

Ms. Griffin asked the Council for permission to request street closures to begin inviting vendors and 

supplying contracts.   

 

Council agreed. 

 
 

ITEM 5: ABSS & CITY OF GRAHAM – JOINT USE AGREEMENTS – RECREATION AND 

PARKS 
 

City Council will consider two joint agreements between the Alamance-Burlington School System 

(ABSS) and the City of Graham to use multiple recreation facilities. 

 

Recreation and Parks Director Bryan Faucette stated the first Joint Use Agreement would replace a 

contract signed in 1999 between ABSS and the City, which governs the use of athletic facilities at 

Graham Middle School (football/soccer field, softball field, walking track) and was set to expire 

Page 9 of 101



7 
 

September 2024.  The new Joint Use Agreement would continue the current responsibilities and uses.   

 

Changes included; a) the addition of three coordinating meetings between ABSS and the Graham 

Recreation and Parks Department (GRPD) to establish maintenance schedules, develop and update the 

GMS master calendar as well as inspect facilities, and b) clarification of maintenance responsibilities 

outlining the GRPD would perform maintenance to all grounds while ABSS would be responsible for 

facility maintenance and repairs.    

 

He stated the second Joint Use Agreement would formalize individual arrangements that had governed 

the City’s use of Ray St. Gymnasium and ABSS’s use of Room #2 at the Graham Recreation Center 

and the tennis courts at Bill Cooke Park. The GRPD uses the Ray St. Gymnasium as a secondary site 

for the youth basketball program.  ABSS uses Room #2 at the Graham Recreation Center for pre-K and 

early intervention programs and the tennis courts at Cooke Park for Graham High School tennis 

programs.       

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to approve the Joint Facility Use Agreement for Graham Middle 

School Athletic Facilities and a Joint Facility Use Agreement for Ray Street Gym, Bill Cooke Park 

Tennis Courts, and Room #2 at the Graham Recreation Center, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall. The 

motion passed unanimously. 
 

 

ITEM 6: BOARDS AND COMMISSION APPOINTMENTS 
 

The City Council considered the following appointments to its Boards and Commissions: 

 

Appearance Commission/Tree Board – (Two Vacancies) 

Applicants: Benjamin Beushausen | David Bradley | Clell Britt 

 

Historical Museum Board – (Two Vacancies) 

Applicant: Melissa Holmes 

 

Planning Board/Board of Adjustment – (One Vacancy) 

Applicants: Cheryl Schmidt | Benjamin Beushausen | Emily O’Dell | Jim Young 

 

Recreation Commission – (One Vacancy) 

Applicant: Patrick Burnette 

 

Library Committee – (One Vacancy – Recommendation Only) 

Applicants: Ernest Lewis, Jr. | Morgan Robinson | Lindsay McKinney 

 

Motion by Mayor Talley to appoint the following to the City’s Boards and Commissions: 

 

Appearance Commission/Tree Board – Clell Britt 

Historical Museum Board – Melissa Holmes 

Planning Board/Board of Adjustment – Jim Young – Alternate for Board of Adjustment 

Recreation Commission – Patrick Burnette 

Library Committee Recommendation – Lindsay McKinney 

 

Seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

Page 10 of 101



8 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
 

Ms. Nicole Papetti, 306 W. Pine Street, Graham, spoke about issues with the US Postal System mailbox 

regulations. 

 

CITY STAFF COMMENTS 
 

No comments. 
 

 

CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

Council Member Chin stated the Sesquicentennial Park was continuing to sink and break down.  City 

Manager Garner stated staff would be prepared to give an update in September.   

 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall asked that the Council look at the Solicitation Ordinance regarding door-to-door 

sales.  He suggested having a time set for soliciting such as 9:00 am to 5:30 pm.  

 

Mayor Talley shared she was getting complaints from businesses regarding panhandling and asked if the 

parking enforcement officer could be trained to handle people who are doing aggressive panhandling. 

She shared the many issues it is causing downtown businesses and asked if it was possible to make him 

full-time and not just handle traffic but also panhandling.  

 

City Manager Garner stated it was possible to make the parking enforcement officer full-time and asked 

if that was something the Council wanted to pursue. She stated it would be a cost and would bring that 

request forward with the associated cost.  Council consensus was to evaluate to determine the best 

solution for the problem.  

 

Mayor Talley also inquired about a reported AirBnB house located on Main Street that is renting rooms 

for $30 a night. She shared it may not have a stove or refrigerator and it was not operating like a typical 

AirBnB. Staff will look into this issue.   

 

Mayor Talley shared the following events: 
 

• August 24, 2024 – Downtown Businesses Hoe Down 

• September 13-15, 2024 – Ballon Festival – Cedarock Park 

• September 21, 2024 - Grahamtoberfest – Downtown Graham Elm Street 
 

Mayor Talley asked if it was a possibility to add a train to the Pumkin Bash. Staff will look into adding 

this feature. She asked if the staff would come back and report what the budget was for the Pumpkin 

Bash and if this feature could be added. 
 

ADJOURN 
 

Motion by Council Member Chin to adjourn, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall.  The motion passed 

unanimously. The meeting adjourned at 8:15 p.m.  
 

 Renee M. Ward, CMC 

           City Clerk 
 

August 13, 2024 

 City Council Meeting  

Page 11 of 101



 STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: WATER BILLING RESTRUCTURE 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER/TONYA MANN 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve the budget amendment to move $77,000 from water billing administration to water and sewer 
distribution and approve two title changes: Water Billing Supervisor to Customer Service Supervisor and 
Utility Billing Technician to Utility Meter Technician.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

As a part of a restructuring effort, the water billing technician, a position that is primarily in the field, is 
being proposed to move from water administration to water and sewer distribution and change title to 
more accurately reflect the assigned duties.  Additionally, given the division of administrative and field 
positions, the current Water Billing Supervisor is proposed for a title change to Customer Service 
Supervisor.  There is no pay grade or salary change requested with this move.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no change to the budget; rather, funds are being requested to move from one department to 
another.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

I move we approve the budget amendment to move $77,000 from water administration to water and 
sewer distribution and approve two title changes: Water Billing Supervisor to Customer Service Supervisor 
and Utility Billing Technician to Utility Meter Technician.   

Page 12 of 101



Section 1.  
EXPENDITURES          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Water Billing Administration 675,700.00                               598,700.00                     (77,000.00)              (77,000.00)                
Water and Sewer Distribution 2,189,837.00                            2,266,837.00                  77,000.00               

-                           -                               (77,000.00)                

Adopted this 10th day of September 2024.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Jennifer Talley

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2024-2025

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2024 - 2025  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 13 of 101



 STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: BUDGET AMENDMENT – INSURANCE PROCEEDS 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve the budget amendment to recognize $10,080 in insurance proceeds revenue and increase the 
Police Department Capital Outlay budget by $10,080.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The go-forth interceptor vehicle was damaged in an accident in the downtown area in May 30, 2024 
causing significant damage and the vehicle to be a total loss.  While even a used like for like replacement 
vehicle cannot be purchased with proceeds, there are other used alternatives that are suitable.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The additional $10,080 will increase expenditures 10-5100-7400/capital outlay and revenues as this 
amount is coming from insurance proceeds.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

I move we approve the budget amendment to recognize $10,080 in insurance proceeds revenue and 
increase the Police Department Capital Outlay budget by $10,080.   

Page 14 of 101



Section 1.  
EXPENDITURES          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Police Department - Capital Outlay 90,000.00                                  100,080.00                     10,080.00               10,080.00                 
90,000.00                                 100,080.00                     10,080.00               -                               10,080.00                 

Section 2.          INCREASE
REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

General Fund - Insuance Proceeds -                                              10,080.00                       10,080.00               10,080.00                 
-                                              10,080.00                       10,080.00               -                               10,080.00                 

Adopted this 10th day of September 2024.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Jennifer Talley

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2024-2025

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2024 - 2025  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 15 of 101



\\10.32.0.60\COG_Share\graham_share\AGENDA PENDING ITEMS\2024\09-10-24 - Regular Meeting\d-Consent - Rec Grant - Budget Amendment\Staff 
Report for Council Agenda1 - 2024 Accessible Parks Grant-budget amendment.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: APPROVE BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR MATCHING FUNDS FOR THE 
ACCESSIBLE PARKS GRANT & TRAIN AT PUMPKIN BASH 

PREPARED BY: BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve budget amendment of $26,250 for matching funds for the 2024 Accessible Parks Grant for ADA 
projects at the Graham Recreation Center and $2,000 for the haunted train attraction at Pumpkin Bash.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

At the April 9, 2024 meeting, City Council directed staff to apply for the 2024 Accessible Parks Grant for 
the ADA Entryway Doors and ADA/Family Restroom projects at the Graham Recreation Center and to 
approve matching funds for $26,250 if the grant is awarded.  The improvements will increase 
accessibility at the Graham Recreation Center through an upgrade of the exterior doors to include ADA 
compliant push plate door opening mechanisms and the addition of a new restroom unit that will meet 
all ADA standards. 

The City of Graham was awarded the grant on August 23, 2024.  Scheduling of the projects may begin on 
November 1st with both projects expected to be completed by May 2025. 

TO CONFIRM DISCUSSION THAT OCCURRED AT THE AUGUST 13 CITY COUNCIL MEETING, 
THE RECREATION BUDGET DOES NOT INCLUDE FUNDING FOR ANY ADDITIONAL 
ATTRACTIONS AT THE PUMPKIN BASH.  IF CITY COUNCIL DESIRES TO ADD THE HAUNTED 
TRAIN THAT HAS BEEN SPONSORED BY LOCAL BUSINESSES IN YEARS PAST, A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT OF $2,000 WILL BE REQUIRED.  THIS FUNDING HAS BEEN INCLUDED IN THE 
BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR CONSIDERATION.  IF CITY COUNCIL ELECTS NOT TO FUND THE 
HAUNTED TRAIN, THE $2,000 SHOULD BE REMOVED. 

FISCAL IMPACT: NO ADDITIONAL IMPACT OUTSIDE OF THE PREVIOUSLY APPROVED 
PROJECT BUDGET IS EXPECTED. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S):  I MAKE A MOTION TO APPROVE A BUDGET AMENDMENT OF 
$26,250 FOR MATCHING FUNDS FOR THE 2024 ACCESSIBLE PARKS GRANT FOR ADA 
PROJECTS AT THE GRAHAM RECREATION CENTER AND $2,000 FOR THE HAUNTED TRAIN 
ATTRACTION AT PUMPKIN BASH.   



Section 1.  
EXPENDITURES          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Capital Outlay - Other Improvements 56,000.00                                  82,250.00                       26,250.00               26,250.00                 
Other Programs 124,000.00                               126,000.00                     2,000.00                 2,000.00                    

180,000.00                               208,250.00                     28,250.00               -                               28,250.00                 

Section 2.          INCREASE
REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Fund Balance Appropriation $1,179,282.00 $1,207,532.00 28,250.00               28,250.00                 
1,179,282.00                            1,207,532.00                 28,250.00               -                               28,250.00                 

Adopted this 10th day of September 2024.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Jennifer Talley

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2024-2025

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2024 - 2025  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 18 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: STREET CLOSURE FOR GRAHAM HIGH SCHOOL HOMECOMING PARADE 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:   

Approve the Graham High School Homecoming Parade request and street closures submitted by Graham High 
School for October 4, 2024 from 4:45pm to 5:15pm. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Graham High School requests the approval of the Graham High School Homecoming Parade as described in the 
attached application and the following parade route. The route would include the procession beginning at Albright 
Avenue, down Main Street, around Court Square, down Pine Street, and ending at Graham Middle School.  The 
requested closure of these streets would be from 4:45pm to 5:15pm.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact to the City of Graham in order to close the street.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval. The various City departments that may be involved have reviewed the request and have provided the 
organizer with pertinent information that will need to be satisfied.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S):  

I move we approve the street closure request from Graham High School for the Graham High School 
Homecoming Parade on October 4, 2024 from 4:45pm to 5:15pm. 

Page 19 of 101



 

CITY OF GRAHAM SPECIAL EVENT APPLICATION 

Thank you for considering Graham to host your Special Event, we're glad you see our City as a great 
place to hang out! 
 
All requests for parade and street events under the City of Graham's ordinance Chapter 20, Article V, 
Section 171 - 174 and 183 - 185 will be reviewed by the Graham Special Events Committee (SEC). Any 
Street closures or use of public spaces will need City Council approval. 
 
SEC* - Public Works Director, Fire Chief, Police Captain, Recreation Director, and Assistant City Manager 
 
Next Steps** - Depending on the location of the event and the request(s), applicants may be required to 
provide event insurance which names the City as an additional insured, schedule public safety through 
Extra Duty Solutions, provide an event map, give detail for sanitation purposes, and other similar 
logistical information. Please be sure to notify the affected businesses of the proposed event and 
provide the City with a copy of the notification.  

Applicants are encouraged to reach out to the Assistant City Manager prior to completing this form if 
they have any questions pertaining to the City's requirements, event locations, event logistics, etc.  
 
City of Graham 
Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager 
201 South Main Street 
Graham, NC 27253 
336.570.6700 
aholland@cityofgraham.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 20 of 101



1.  Your email: _____________________________________________________ 

2.  Event name (if applicable): ________________________________________ 

3.  Reason for the event (be specific): ___________________________________ 

4.  Event date(s): ____________________________________________________ 

5.  Provide your event's setup, start, end, and cleanup times.  (Ex:  Name of Event 6:30 a.m. - 8 a.m.                   
setup | 8 a.m. event start | 2 p.m. event ends | 2 p.m. - 4 p.m. cleanup): 

      ________________________________________________________________ 

6.  Event category 

Please check all that apply appropriate category for your event. 

____ Concert/Performance 

____ Exhibit 

____ Farmer's Market 

____ Festival/Fair 

____ Parade/Procession 

____ Run/Walk 

____ Food Truck Rodeo 

____ Other: ______________________ 

 

7.  Where are you requesting for your event to occur? 

Be specific identifying street names or City facilities being requested for use? 

_________________________________________________________________ 

8.  Does your event include the request to close streets?  

Yes _____       No  _____ 

9.  Identify the street(s) you are requesting to have closed for your event. 

__________________________________________________________________ 

10.  Identify your street closure time(s) and will you anticipate when they will return to normal traffic 
flow. 

____________________________________________________________________ 

kyle_ward@abss.k12.nc.us

Graham High School Homecoming Parade

To Celebrate Homecoming

October 4th, 2024

HC Parade 4:45pm - 5:15pm    Parade Start 4:45pm  Parade ends 5:15pm   Clean up right after parade ends

X

Start On Albright Ave down Main Street Half way around Court Square Down Pine Street to GMS.

X

Main @ Albright, East and West East Elm Street, East and West Pine Street

Closed at 4:45pm  Reopened by 5:15pm 

Page 21 of 101



11.  What is your anticipated event attendance total?  _______ 

12.  Does your event include musical entertainment? 

___Yes    ___ No   

13.  Where will your musical entertainment be located? 

______________________________________________________________________ 

14.  Will sound amplification be used?  ___ Yes        ___ No 

 If yes, provide the start time and end time. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

15.  Will inflatables or similar devices be used at your event? ___ Yes      ___ No 

If yes, please describe. *Please note, Insurance requirements must be met in order to offer this      
activity. 

________________________________________________________________________ 

16. Does your event include the use of fireworks, rockets, lasers, or other pyrotechnics?  

      ____ Yes    ____ No 

 If yes, please describe. ***Note: These requests will be subject to the approval of the City of Graham                 
Police & Fire Departments in conjunction with State Laws governing this type of activity. 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

17. Will alcohol be served, sold or consumed at your event? 

___ Yes      ____ No 

If you answered yes to the question above, please check all that apply to your event. 

___ Alcohol will be available free of charge 

___ Alcohol will be by purchase only 

___ Alcohol being served and or sold at my event includes 

___ Beer only 

___ Wine only 

___ Beer & Wine 

 

 

300 - 1000

X

Graham High School Band

X

X

X

X

Page 22 of 101



18. Describe your security plan to ensure the safe sale and or distribution of alcohol at your event. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

19. Does your event include food concession and/or food preparation areas? 

Yes ___              No___ 

If yes, please select the method of cooking that pertains to your event. 

___ Gas 

___ Electric 

___ Charcoal 

___ Other: ________________________________________________________ 

20. Do you plan to provide portable toilets at your event? 

Yes ___           No___ 

If yes, list the total number of portable toilets: _______ 

21. Portable toilet company name:  ___________________________________________ 

If no, please explain  ________________________________________________________ 

22. Explain your plan for cleanup and removal of trash, waste, and garbage during & after your event. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Does your event require additional trash receptacles? 

Yes ____      No____ 

If yes, what is the requested number of additional trash receptacles?  ____________ 

23. Will there be any tents, canopies or temporary structures at your event?   

Yes _____     No _____ 

 

 

 

 

 

X

X

There should be no trash to clean up

X

X

Page 23 of 101



24. Applicant name and affiliated agency if applicable 

______________________________________________________________ 

25. Applicant's Address 

_______________________________________________________________ 

26. Applicant's phone number 

_______________________________________________________________ 

27. Applicant's email address 

________________________________________________________________ 

28. Provide the event's point of contact if different from the applicant.  (First & Last name, Phone 
number, & Email Address) 

__________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 

29. How many years has this event taken place?  ______________ 

 

 

 

 

Kyle Ward    Graham High School

903 Trollinger Road Graham NC 27253

(336)-380-7876

kyle_ward@abss.k12.nc.us

50+

Page 24 of 101



Page 25 of 101



Page 26 of 101



Page 27 of 101



Page 28 of 101



Page 29 of 101



Page 30 of 101



Page 31 of 101



Page 32 of 101



Page 33 of 101



Page 34 of 101



Page 35 of 101



Page 36 of 101



Page 37 of 101



Page 38 of 101



Page 39 of 101



Page 40 of 101



Page 41 of 101



Page 42 of 101



Page 43 of 101



Page 44 of 101



Page 45 of 101



Page 46 of 101



Page 47 of 101



Page 48 of 101



Page 49 of 101



Page 50 of 101



Page 51 of 101



Page 52 of 101



Page 53 of 101



Page 54 of 101



Page 55 of 101



Page 56 of 101



Page 57 of 101



Page 58 of 101



Page 59 of 101



Page 60 of 101



Page 61 of 101



Page 62 of 101



Page 63 of 101



Page 64 of 101



Page 65 of 101



Page 66 of 101



Page 67 of 101



Page 68 of 101



Page 69 of 101



Page 70 of 101



Page 71 of 101



Page 72 of 101



Page 73 of 101



Page 74 of 101



Page 75 of 101



Page 76 of 101



Page 77 of 101



Page 78 of 101



Page 79 of 101



Page 80 of 101



Page 81 of 101



Page 82 of 101



Page 83 of 101



Page 84 of 101



Page 85 of 101



Page 86 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ANNEXATION OF .79 +/‐ ACRES 

PREPARED BY: CAMERON WEST, PLANNER 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Annexation Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Graham, North Carolina for two tracts of 
land totaling .79 +/- acres located off of Jimmie Kerr Road

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The attached petition is a request for the Council’s approval for an extension of the corporate limits to include the subject properties. The
area being considered for annexation is located off of Jimmie Kerr Road and contains approximately .79 +- acres total. Water is located 
along the frontage of this property within the Jimmie Kerr Road right of way, and the applicants wish to tie onto the City’s
infrastructure.

annexation process. FISCAL   IMPACT:  

New residential property generally creates positive tax revenue for the City, and because the public services are being connected at this site, 

the cost to the City is minimal.  

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval.  

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S):  

1. I move we approve the Annexation Ordinance to Extend the Corporate limits of the City of Graham, North Carolina, for .79 (+/-)acres 
off of Jimmie Kerr Road.

Page 87 of 101



Ji
m
m
ie
K
e
rr
R
d

J
im

m
ie

K
e
rr

R
d

Graham GIS, Graham, NC Planning, Alamance GIS, Guilford GIS, Esri
Community Maps Contributors, Town of Cary, Alamance County, State of North
Carolina DOT, © OpenStreetMap, Microsoft, Esri, TomTom, Garmin, SafeGraph,
GeoTechnologies, Inc, METI/NASA, USGS, EPA, NPS, US Census Bureau, USDA,

USFWS

City of Graham

µ
Disclaimer:
This map was compiled from the GIS resources of the Burlington Regional GIS Partnership for public planning and agency support purposes.  These resources include public information sources of different scale, time, origin,
definition and accuracy, which aspects produce inconsistencies among features represented together on this map.  Neither the City of Graham nor the Partnership shall be held liable for any errors in this map or supporting
data.  Primary public information sources from which this map was compiled, in conjunction with field surveys where required, must be consulted for the verification of the information contained within this map.Print Date: 7/31/2024

Legend
Tax Parcels (unofficial)

Zoning Districts
B-1, Central Business District

B-2, General Business District

B-3, Neighborhood Business
District

C-B, Conditional Business

C-I, Conditional  Industrial

C-MXC, Conditional Commercial
Mixed Use

C-MXR, Conditional Residential
Mixed Use

C-O-I, Conditional Office and
Institutional

C-R, Conditional Residential
District

I-1, Light Industrial District

I-2, Heavy Industrial District

O-I, Office and Institutional

R-7, High-Density Residential
District

R-9, High-Density Residential
District

R-12, Medium-Density
Residential District

R-15, Medium-Density
Residential District

R-18, Low-Density Residential
District

R-G, General Residential District

Graham Zoning

1:2,257

Page 88 of 101

Cameron West
Polygonal Line



Ho
us

e

Bu
ild

ing

Conc.Pad

Conc.Pad

HV
AC

5' Chainlink Fence

5' Chainlink Fence Concrete
Sidewalk

Gravel

Gravel
Gravel

Gravel

Gr
av

el

5' Chainlink
Fence

Gravel over the
line 16.9'

Fence over the
line 2.2'

L A N D   S U R V E Y
RELIANT
P.L.L.C.  P-1735

DONOHO ANNEXATION
PLAT DONALD B ABELE                       LICENSED SURVEYOR 1

11344 WILLOW OAK DRIVE                BURLINGTON, NC 27215
336-447-8399

Conc. over the

line 2.3'

CITY   OF   GRAHAM

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AH

AM
 C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S

18,043 SF
(0.41 Acres)

19,319 SF
(0.44 Acres)

Zone B2 CORPORATE LIMITS

Page 89 of 101

AutoCAD SHX Text
JIMMIE KERR ROAD - S.R. 1928  (60' R/W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUKE POWER COMPANY GPIN: 8894672445 Parcel ID: 152914 DB 534 PG 551 PB 534 PG 554 PB 534 PG 555

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCOTT R HENDERSON JR  FAMILY LIMITED PRTNRSHP  C/O CAROLYN SCOTT WHITE GPIN: 8894575097 Parcel ID: 152826 DB 1129 PG 938

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHANNON ELIZABETH DONOHO GPIN: 8894666926 Parcel ID: 173296 DB 4213 PG 940 PB 78 PG 84 (LOT 2) OLD TAX ID: 13-13-30 19,319 SF (0.44 ACRES)

AutoCAD SHX Text
34" FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
34" FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
34" FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
REBAR(BENT) NAIL SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
34" FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAFTSMAN:          KLK

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION DATE(S):

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME:

AutoCAD SHX Text
RLS PROJECT No. 3480

AutoCAD SHX Text
Quality Service. On Time.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GRAHAM CORPORATE LIMITS EXTENSION FOR  PARCEL ID: 152915 & 173296

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN FOR: SHANNON DONOHO 919-805-8478SHANNON DONOHO 919-805-8478

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEYED: 05/24/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN: 06/21/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD CERTIFICATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LOCATED IN FLOOD ZONE "X" - AREA OF MINIMAL FLOOD HAZARD  (FEMA PANEL 3710889400K, EFFECTIVE 11/17/2017)

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
1) THIS SURVEY HAS BEEN PREPARED WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF A TITLE REPORT AND DOES NOT THEREFORE NECESSARILY INDICATE ALL ENCUMBRANCES ON THE PROPERTY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JIMMIE KERR RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TROLLINGWOOD RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
I, BEN ABELE, CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT WAS DRAWN UNDER MY SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL SURVEY PERFORMED UNDER MY SUPERVISION (DEED DESCRIPTION RECORDED IN BOOK 4213 PAGE 921 AND BOOK 4213 PAGE 940); THAT THE BOUNDARIES NOT SURVEYED ARE CLEARLY INDICATED AS DRAWN FROM INFORMATION FOUND IN PLAT BOOK 78 PAGE 84; THAT THE RATIO OF PRECISION OR POSITIONAL ACCURACY AS CALCULATED IS 1:10,000; THAT THIS PLAT WAS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH G.S. 47-30 AS AMENDED. AND THAT THIS SURVEY IS OF AN EXISTING PARCEL OR PARCELS OF LAND AND DOES NOT CREATE A NEW STREET OR CHANGE AN EXISTING STREET; (G.S. 47-30(f)(11). WITNESS MY ORIGINAL SIGNATURE, LICENSE NUMBER,  AND SEAL, THIS ______ DAY OF ______________, A.D., 2024. ______________________________________ BEN ABELE, PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, L-5586

AutoCAD SHX Text
S74° 25' 51"E    197.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N26° 45' 32"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
121.62'(TIE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S33° 12' 54"W    131.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N5° 55' 32"E  83.38'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N57° 35' 00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
150.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N5° 53' 07"E       212.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N56° 46' 57"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
52.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S33° 10' 37"W     190.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNERS OF RECORD: : SHANNON ELIZABETH DONOHO GPIN: 8894676053 8894676053 Parcel ID: 152915 DB 4213 PG 921 PB 78 PG 84 (LOT 1) OLD TAX ID: 13-13-29 18,043 SF (0.41 ACRES) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 78 PG 84

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP-FOUND IRON PIPE CC  CONTROL CORNER CONTROL CORNER GPIN  GRID PARCEL ID NUMBER GRID PARCEL ID NUMBER R/W  RIGHT OF WAY RIGHT OF WAY EOP  EDGE OF PAVEMENT EDGE OF PAVEMENT SL  SEPTIC LID SEPTIC LID GM  GAS METER GAS METER LIGHT POLE MEASURED PROPERTY LINE ADJACENT PROPERTY LINE RIGHT OF WAY AREA OF ANNEXATION  CITY OF GRAHAM CORPORATE LIMITS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CC

AutoCAD SHX Text
Review Officer Certification. State of North Carolina County of Alamance I, _______________________, Review Officer of Alamance County, certify that the map or plat to which this certification is affixed meets all statutory requirements for recording. ________________________________   _______________ Review Officer                                Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Annexation approved by City of Graham City Council on ______________________________ ______________________    ____________ City of Graham Planner            Date



 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEXATION ORDINANCE 
TO EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE 

CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA 
FOR .79 ACRES OF LAND OFF OF JIMMIE KERR ROAD (AN2403) 

 
WHEREAS,  the Graham City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-31 to annex the 
area described below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Graham City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to investigate 
the sufficiency of the petition; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and public hearing on 
the questions of this annexation was held at City Hall, 201 S Main Street, Graham at 6:00 P.M. 
on September 10th, 2024, after due notice by publication August 29th, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Graham City Council finds that the petition meets the requirement of G.S. 
160A-31. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDINATED by the City Council of the City of Graham, 
North Carolina that:  
 
Section 1. By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, the following described territory 
is hereby annexed and made part of the City of Graham as of September 10th, 2024: 
 

Legal Description GPIN#: 8894676053 
Legal Description: 

  
Beginning at a 3/4" Rebar on the western margin of a 60' right of way (Jimmie Kerr Road, SR 
1928), thence N 57° 35' 00" W a distance of 150.27' to a bent 3/4" Rebar (with nail set at base), 
thence N 05° 55' 32" E a distance of 83.38' to a 3/4" Iron Pipe, thence S 74° 25' 51" E a distance 
of 197.79' to a 3/4" Iron Pipe in the western margin of a 60' right of way (Jimmie Kerr Road, SR 
1928) thence along with the right of way, S 33° 12' 54" W a distance of 131.96' to the point of 

Page 90 of 101



beginning, being all of Lot 1 on the Donoho Annexation Plat (#3480) by Reliant Land Survey 
PLLC. 
 
 

Legal Description GPIN#: 8894666926 
Legal Description: 

 
Beginning at a 1/2" Iron Pipe on the western margin of a 60' right of way (Jimmie Kerr Road, SR 
1928), thence N 56° 46' 57" W a distance of 52.89' to a 3/4" Iron Pipe, thence N 05° 53' 07" E a 
distance of 212.35' to a bent 3/4" Rebar (with nail set at base), thence S 57° 35' 00" E a distance 
of 150.27' to a 3/4" Rebar in the western margin of a 60' right of way (Jimmie Kerr Road, SR 
1928) thence along with the right of way, S 33° 10' 37" W a distance of 190.75' to the point of 
beginning, being all of Lot 2 on the Donoho Annexation Plat (#3480) by Reliant Land Survey 
PLLC 
 
 
Adopted this, the 10th day of September, 2024 
 
 
 
              

Jennifer Talley, Mayor, City of Graham 
 
 
ATTEST:                                    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
                                                  
Renee M. Ward, City Clerk                                                 Bryan Coleman, City Attorney                    

Page 91 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: SESQUICENTENNIAL PARK – REQUEST FOR BIDS 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Direct staff to either: A). issue a request for bids for the one, a combination thereof, or all of the following 
options for Sesquicentennial Park: 1). Repair the park in its current location; 2). Move the park to the Civic 
Center; and 3). Remove the park and grade the top surface only of the property; or B). close the park, 
remove the memorial items, and sell the property as is.    
 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

City Council discussed preliminary options for the floor of the Sesquicentennial Park at the March 12 and 
April 9 meetings.  Contractors have been reluctant to provide any firm pricing estimates because the scope 
of work will require it to be bid.  Due to the floor sinking, the park will be closed in the near future with 
temporary fencing put in place in order to reduce the likelihood of incidents.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Cost will depend on the alternative selected by City Council and once bids have been received, if that is 
the selected option.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff is requesting direction from City Council to either proceed with a request for bids for options 1-3 or 
any combination chosen by Council or determine some other course of action for the property.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

 
Direct staff to either issue a request for bids or another alternative for Sesquicentennial Park.    



 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ROAD CLOSURE FOR GRPD SIGNATURE EVENT IN DOWNTOWN GRAHAM 

PREPARED BY: BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 
REQUESTED ACTION:   

The Recreation and Parks Department requests the following closures on Saturday, May 17, 2025 from 6:00am-6:00pm 
for a new signature event in downtown Graham: 

1) 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets and North and South Main Streets 

2) public parking lot at the intersection of East Elm Street and Marshall Street and the public parking lot on the 
100 block of West Elm Street. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

GRPD staff solicited input from downtown businesses at two meetings held on September 4th.  Comments will be shared 
at the Council meeting.  

Graham Police Officers and GRPD staff will execute the closures and provide appropriate monitoring and security.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact to the City of Graham aside from the regularly budgeted program expenses.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends the approval of the closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets and North and South Main 
Streets, the public parking lot at the intersection of East Elm Street and Marshall Street, and the public parking lot on the 
100 block of West Elm Street from 6:00am-6:00pm on May 17, 2025. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I MAKE A MOTION TO APPROVE THE STAFF RECOMMENDED CLOSURES.  

Page 93 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: CIVILIAN TRAFFIC INVESTIGATOR (PAY GRADE 12)  

PREPARED BY: CAPTAIN DANIEL SISK 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve a title change from Traffic Enforcement Officer to Civilian Traffic Investigator, transition 
of the existing employee from part-time to full-time effective September 22, 2024, and a budget 
amendment in the amount of $42,000 to cover the expenses through the end of fiscal year 2025.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

At the August 13, 2024 meeting, City Council decided via consensus to direct staff to evaluate the 
possibility of transitioning the part-time Traffic Enforcement Officer to full-time.  When 
evaluating the potential duties of this position, the following were identified: 

Business district patrols for the observance and reporting of ordinance violations. Employee would 
regularly make contact with the business owners to address and report local concerns to the proper 
city departments.  

The person assigned to this job class would continue to fulfill the duties of our parking enforcement 
officer and provide additional foot patrols in the business district.  In addition to the traffic 
enforcement and public outreach duties, this position will also be able to investigate traffic crashes 
involving only property damage.  In 2023, the Graham Police Department responded to 250 
property damage crashes along S. Main St. from Albright Ave. to Ivey Rd. That accounted for 
approximately 25% of all property damage traffic crashes in 2023.  The ability to employ a civilian 
traffic investigator would allow our agency to free up sworn personnel to handle other areas of 
concern in their assigned zones.  They would also provide a force multiplier for traffic direction 
during special events and traffic crashes being investigated by our sworn personnel.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94 of 101



  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 
The current Parking Enforcement position is budgeted for $15,000.  Using the existing pay grade 
annualized, the estimated costs are below.  
 
The initial cost to onboard a full-time employee at a pay grade 12 for the first year.  
 
1. Pay Grade 12 Annual Salary     $38,769 
2. Fringe Benefit Cost (Health, Dental, Vision, Life)  $10,122 
3. Laptop        $3,500 
4. Cradle point Router       $1,600 
5. Cell service for cradle point      $456 
6. Body Worn and In-Car Camera   $2,268 
7. Vehicle Supplies (Roll tape, Flares, etc.)  $500 
8. Uniforms        $500 
       Total: $57,715 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

Approve a title change from Traffic Enforcement Officer to Civilian Traffic Investigator, a 
transition of the existing employee from part-time to full-time effective September 22, 2024, and 
a budget amendment in the amount of $42,000 to cover the expenses through the end of fiscal year 
2025.   

Page 95 of 101



Section 1.  
EXPENDITURES          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Police Department (salary and related lines) 6,596,342.00                            6,638,342.00                  42,000.00               42,000.00                 

6,596,342.00                            6,638,342.00                 42,000.00               -                               42,000.00                 

Section 2.          INCREASE
REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Fund Balance Appropriation $1,207,532.00 $1,249,532.00 42,000.00               42,000.00                 
1,207,532.00                            1,249,532.00                 42,000.00               -                               42,000.00                 

Adopted this 10th day of September 2024.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Jennifer Talley

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2024-2025

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2024 - 2025  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 96 of 101



 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE TO AMEND CANVASSERS’ AND SOLICITORS’ 
PERMIT HOURS AND DURATION 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Amend hours and duration in Code of Ordinances for Canvassers’ and Solicitors’ Permit. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

At the conclusion of the August 13th City Council meeting, staff was directed by Council to review our current 
ordinances pertaining to Chapter 8, Article IV, Canvassers’ and Solicitors’ Permit. It was suggested that staff research 
other municipalities that applied regulations on hours permitted for peddling and also effective days of the permit. 
Based on review, it is being recommended that peddling within the City be prohibited between the hours of 7:30 p.m. 
to 9:00 a.m. and the effective date of an issued permit be amended from 180 days to 90 days. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval.  The following language addresses regulatory changes in accordance with legal review. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the Ordinance amendment to CHAPTER 8- BUSINESSES, ARTICLE IV- CANVASSERS’ AND 
SOLICITORS’ PERMIT, SECTIONS 8-104 and 8-113 of the Code of Ordinances. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97 of 101



AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, AMENDING CHAPTER 8, 
ARTICLE IV, SEC. 8-104 AND 113 TO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, 

NORTH CAROLINA 
 
     The City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina, does ORDAIN: 
 
Sec. 1. That the Code of Ordinances, City of Graham, North Carolina, is hereby amended by amending 
sections 8-104 and 113, which said sections read as follows:   
 

Chapter 8 – BUSINESSES 

ARTICLE IV. – CANVASSERS’ AND SOLICITORS’ PERMIT 

Sec. 8-104. - Required. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for a solicitor or canvasser to enter upon any private premises when such premises 
are posted with a sign stating "No Solicitors or No Solicitations allowed". 

(b) If, at the entrances to a neighborhood with a property owners association, a visible sign that says "no 
soliciting" or that has comparable language indicating that solicitation is unwelcome has been posted by 
the association pursuant to authority granted to it, it shall be a violation of this section for a solicitor to go 
onto or into any private premises in that neighborhood, regardless of whether that particular residence has 
a "no soliciting" or comparable sign posted, for the purpose of soliciting orders for the sale of, disposing 
of, or peddling or hawking of goods, wares, and merchandise. 

(c) Regardless of whether a private premise has a "no soliciting" sign or comparable sign posted, it shall 
be a violation of this section if a solicitor does not immediately leave a private premise after being told to 
do so by any owner or occupant of the residence. 

ADD:  

(d) It shall be unlawful for any peddler or solicitor to engage in the business of peddling within the City 
between the hours of 7:30 p.m. to 9:00 a.m. 

Sec. 8-113. - Duration. 

AMEND: A permit issued under the provisions of this article shall be effective 180 90 days from the 
issuance date unless the application requests permission to do business for a lesser period, in which case 
the permit shall be valid for such period. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98 of 101



Sec. 2. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval and 
publication, as provided by law and all ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

 
 
 
 
This the ____ day of ___________2024. 
 
                                                                        _________________________ 
                                                                             Jennifer Talley, Mayor  
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Renee M. Ward, City Clerk      

Page 99 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: PEDESTRIAN PLAN DISCUSSION 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Discuss and provide any comments for the proposed City of Graham Pedestrian Plan Update. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

With the approval to proceed by City Council in 2023, the 
City of Graham and the NCDOT Integrated Mobility 
Division (IMD) proceeded with an update to the existing 
Graham Pedestrian Plan. The current plan was adopted in 
2006 with several areas needing to be revised due to the 
growth of the city in areas not currently highlighted in the 
exisiting plan. With consideration to the steering committee 
and public engageent input, recommendations were carefully 
integrated into the plan. Recommendations include 
prioritized implementation and funding strategies supporting 
near-term (within five years) to long-range projects, facility 
standards, and a cohesive vision to improve safety, comfort, 
and promote economic development. 

In addition to supporting multimodal, Complete Streets, and community goals, the plan also looks to comply with 
IMD Bicycle and Pedestrian Planning Grant Initiative. The plan focuses on potential improvements, with special 
focus on safe crossings and connecting the City’s new growth with pedestrian and multi-use path facilities.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

N/A 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

No approval required at this time. Staff intends to add the plan to the October City Council Agenda for consideration.  

Page 100 of 101



Executive Summary 
This executive summary provides a brief overview of the City of Graham Pedestrian Plan and key recommendations. 

About This Plan 
The City of Graham Pedestrian Plan (“the Plan”) provides guidance for the City, North Carolina Department of Transportation 
(NCDOT), Alamance County, Burlington-Graham Metropolitan Planning Organization (BGMPO), and other stakeholders in developing 
improvements to the City of Graham pedestrian infrastructure, programs, and policies.  

The Plan was developed through extensive public outreach, review of existing conditions, coordination with a dedicated Steering 
Committee, and consideration of the City’s vision and goals. Graham seeks to become a more pedestrian friendly City that 
encourages the choice to walk, advance the community’s mobility and quality of life, and improve pedestrian connectivity to key 
destinations for residents and visitors of all ages and abilities. During the planning process, Graham residents and stakeholders voiced 
their concerns and hopes for walking throughout the City and to other destinations in Alamance County.  

The Plan is primarily focused on infrastructure improvements in support of walking, improving crossings at roadways, and building 
out and connecting to a regional greenway network. The benefits of walking and recommended policies and programs to support 
active transportation are reviewed as part of the Plan appendices.  

Priority Recommendations (Top Eight Combined Projects) 
The Plan identified a total of eight priority project bundles (made up of 30 individual projects – including 13 linear pedestrian projects 
and 17 intersection-related projects) to improve walking in Graham. These projects were selected through a process that began with 
identifying the City’s vision and goals, mapping priority and secondary corridors, and creating projects to match the City’s mobility 
and safety needs. Finally, all recommended projects were ranked according to criteria developed with the City and Steering 
Committee that prioritized connections to key destinations, extending the existing pedestrian network, safety, equitable pedestrian 
access, recreation, and cost effectiveness. The top 8 projects are as described in Table I-1 and illustrated in the map in Figure I-1.  

 

Page 101 of 101


	09-10-24 - Agenda1
	Proclamation - Constitution Week
	08-13-24 -  Regular Meeting Minutes
	Staff Report - Water Billing Restructure 9.2024
	WATER BILLING RESTRUCTURE
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER/TONYA MANN
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	Utilities budget amendment 9.2024
	PRESENTATION

	Staff Report - PD Insurance Proceeds Budget Amendment 9.2024
	BUDGET AMENDMENT – INSURANCE PROCEEDS
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	PD Insurance Proceed budget amendment 9.2024
	PRESENTATION

	Staff Report for Council Agenda - 2024 Accessible Parks Grant-budget amendment (002)
	APPROVE BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR MATCHING FUNDS FOR THE ACCESSIBLE PARKS GRANT & TRAIN AT PUMPKIN BASH
	SUBJECT:
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	Rec Grant budget amendment 9.2024
	PRESENTATION

	1_Staff Report for Council Agenda -Homecoming Parade Street Closure
	STREET CLOSURE FOR GRAHAM HIGH SCHOOL HOMECOMING PARADE
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	Parade Event Application
	TAX LEVY & SETTLEMENT
	TAX RELEASES
	2023 UNCOLLECTIBLE TAX LISTING
	AN2403 Staff Report 2
	AN2403 Zoning Map
	AN2403 Annexation Plat
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	AN2403 Annexation Ordinance
	Staff Report - Sesquicentennial Park - Request for Bids
	Staff Report for Council Agenda - street closure for new 2025 GRPD signature event
	ROAD CLOSURE FOR GRPD SIGNATURE EVENT IN DOWNTOWN GRAHAM
	SUBJECT:
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	Staff Report - Parking enforcement Rev. 2
	CIVILIAN TRAFFIC INVESTIGATOR (PAY GRADE 12) 
	SUBJECT:
	CAPTAIN DANIEL SISK
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	Parking Enforcement budget amendment 9.2024
	PRESENTATION

	1_Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances- Canvassers and Solicitors Permit time
	ORDINANCE TO AMEND CANVASSERS’ AND SOLICITORS’ PERMIT HOURS AND DURATION
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	1_Staff Report Pedestrian Plan Discussion
	PEDESTRIAN PLAN DISCUSSION
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	2_PED Plan Executive Summary
	ADPC764.tmp
	APPROVE BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR MATCHING FUNDS FOR THE ACCESSIBLE PARKS GRANT & TRAIN AT PUMPKIN BASH
	SUBJECT:
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	To confirm discussion that occurred at the August 13 City Council meeting, the Recreation budget does not include funding for any additional attractions at the Pumpkin Bash.  If City Council desires to add the haunted train that has been sponsored by ...
	Fiscal Impact: No additional impact outside of the previously approved project budget is expected.
	Staff Recommendation: Approval
	Suggested Motion(s):  I make a motion to approve a budget amendment of $26,250 for matching funds for the 2024 Accessible Parks Grant for ADA projects at the Graham Recreation Center and $2,000 for the haunted train attraction at Pumpkin Bash.

	ADPD806.tmp
	SESQUICENTENNIAL PARK – REQUEST FOR BIDS
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)




